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The turbulent years from 1912 until 1925 

witnessed the 1916 insurrection, the Irish War of 

Independence, transition to self government and a 

bitter civil war.  Commonly termed the Irish 

Revolution, these formative years continue to 

intrigue the public consciousness.  The success of 

Neil Jordanôs film Michael Collins reaffirmed the 

undying appeal of these emotive episodes.  Irish 

history sections in bookshops throughout the 

world are dominated by biographies and memoirs 

of participants, traditional narrative accounts, and, 

more recently, regional and local studies of this 

period.  From a scholarly perspective, the 

availability of a vast array of archival material 

over the past three decades has transformed the 

historiography of the Irish Revolution.   

 

Yet despite the abundance of writing on the 

subject, remarkably no attempt has ever been 

made to present and document a comprehensive 

list of all fatalities which are attributable to Irish 

political violence between 1912 and 1925.  Only 

limited attempts have previously been made.  For 

instance, The Last Post (2nd Ed. Dublin, 1976) lists 

the republican dead but it contains considerable 

inaccuracies and omissions.  Richard Abbottôs 

laudable Police Casualties in Ireland 1919-1921 

(Cork, 2000) portrays only part of the story as a 

description of the associated British military, IRA 

and civilians casualties was beyond the scope of 

that work.  Consequently, there has been no 

agreement among scholars on so rudimentary and 

vital a fundamental as the number of lives 

claimed, let alone their identities and the 

circumstances of their deaths.     

 

In the autumn of 2003, an IRCHSS-funded 

project: The Dead of the Irish Revolution, 1912-

1925  set out to provide an exhaustive survey of 

such fatalities based on authoritative and scholarly 

research drawing on a range of original sources.      

Broadly speaking fatalities may be divided into 

four typologies: British military, Civilian, Non-

British military and Police.   

 

There is great interest in British military history, 

particularly that of World War One.  However, 

those military personnel who served in Ireland, 

often only weeks after the Armistice, have 

attracted little attention.  If they are mentioned at 

all, the Irish troubles of 1919-21 are given the 

briefest half-page reference in regimental 

histories.  No campaign medals were awarded to 

those who served in Ireland.  Only some of those 

who lost their lives have been catalogued by the 

Commonwealth Graves Commission.  All the 

indications are that those who died in British 

military uniform while on service in Ireland have 

not received due historical attention or 

recognition.  Perhaps even more neglected are 

those British military killed between July 1921 

and June 1923, some of whose bodies were not 

returned until the mid-1920s.  

 

This project makes a determined effort to 

distinguish civilian from Irish military fatalities 

which in previously published works are often 

simply lumped together as ócivilians.ô  A true 

picture of the type of fatalities has therefore been 

distorted.  The Headford Junction ambush in 

County Kerry in March 1921 is a well known 

incident of the Irish War of Independence in 

which thirteen people were killed or died of 

wounds.  Eight of these fatalities were British 

military.  Of the remaining five, three were 

civilians and only two were IRA volunteers.  As 

casualties of political violence, children are rarely 

afforded a proper place in the historiography of 

conflicts but in this project such erasure is 

arrested.   
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In the same way certain shootings were not 

isolated incidents.  In some cases one personôs 

death prompted a reprisal and to treat one without 

tracking the other is to tell only half the story.  In 

Castlerea, Co. Roscommon, members of the 

Auxiliary Division, Royal Irish Constabulary 

killed an IRA volunteer named Patrick Conroy 

and a local Protestant farmer named James Monds 

in the early hours of 7 April 1921.  The Active 

Service Unit of the South Roscommon Brigade, 

IRA sought retribution and entered Castlerea on 

the evening of the 7th seeking British soldiers. In 

the ensuing shootout Lance-Corporal Edward 

Weldon was shot through the heart, another 

soldier wounded and a civilian, Mrs Mary Anne 

McDonagh, fatally wounded.  She was guilty of 

nothing other than the misfortune of being in the 

wrong place at the wrong time.  Each of these 

fatalities has his or her personal story: where they 

lived, where they died, if they were married, how 

they made their living, whether they had any 

children and so on.  But there is also the 

interconnected story of their deaths.  By viewing 

things in this way, The Dead of the Irish 

Revolution provides a sombre account of what in 

modern military parlance is regarded as ócollateral 

damageô.   

Some Blue Caps. 
 

Among the growing list of fatalities assembled by 

this project are a number of members of The 

Royal Dublin Fusiliers.  Close readers of H. C. 

Wyllyôs Neill's ñBlue Capsò Vol. III . Schull 

Books, Cork, and The 1916 Rebellion Handbook 

will be familiar with those Dubs who were killed 

or died of wounds during the Easter Rising:  

 

Brennan, Private Francis (25244) 10th (Pals) 

Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers from  No.24 

Usherôs Island, Dublin. Aged 18 when killed, he is 

buried at Grangegorman Military Cemetery. 

Blackhorse Avenue. Grave Reference. RC.468. 

Pte. Brennanôs nephew is member of the Royal 

Dublin Fusiliers Association. 

 

Burke, Lance Sergeant Frederick William Robert. 

(25692).10th Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers. Age 

21.Born at Quetta, Baluchistan. His father was 

Major John Burke D.S.O.,M.C.,D.C.M. of 62 

Grove Avenue, Twickenham. Buried at 

Grangegorman Military Cemetery. Grave 

Reference. CE642. 

Byrne, Private James (18259). Served at Depot in 

Naas. Age 19. Born in Dublin. Buried at 

Grangegorman Military Cemetery. Grave 

Reference. RC483. 

 

Coxon, Private Richard (22164). 5th Battalion 

Royal Dublin Fusiliers. Buried at Grangegorman 

Military Cemetery. Grave Reference. RC479. 

  

Ellis, Private Alfred (21735). 5th Battalion Royal 

Dublin Fusiliers. Age 19. Son of Alfred and Sarah 

Jane Ellis from Leeds. Formerly (97706) the 

Royal Field Artillery. Buried at Grangegorman 

Military Cemetery. Grave Reference. SWS185. 

 

Gray, Lieutenant George. 4th Battalion Royal 

Dublin Fusiliers. Age 22. Formerly a dental 

student. Son of Alexander (RIP) and Helen Ross 

Gray from Newcastle-on-Tyne. Killed by a sniper 

on the railway line up from Broadstone facing 

Kellyôs Lane, Phibsborough. His name is on a 

memorial in the Parish Church of St. George and 

St. Thomas  in Cathal Brugha Street, Dublin. He is 

buried at Grangegorman Military Cemetery. Grave 

Reference. C.E. Officers 46. 

 

Hare, Sergeant Henry (6745). 5th Battalion Royal 

Dublin Fusiliers. Age 40. Born in Dublin. Buried 

at Grangegorman Military Cemetery. Grave 

Reference. RC482. Sgt. Hare has the same 

regimental number as  Pte. Martin  Walsh M.M, 

2nd  Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers from Kilrush, 

Co. Clare, killed in action  facing Wijtschate in 

Flanders on 1 June 1917. Sgt. Hare was the 

husband of Rosana  Hare, 109 Cupar Street, 

Belfast. Sgt. Hareôs granddaughter is member of 

the Royal Dublin Fusiliers Association. 

 

Humphreys, Corporal John William (19222). óAô 

Company,  5th Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers. 

óShot through the head in Westmoreland Street at 

noon on Monday before fighting commenced 

while returning unarmed off furloughé 

Information received from Mercers Hospital.ô 

WO35/69. Age 29. Born in Clonmel, Co. 

Tipperary. Son of  Robert (RIP) and Marguerite 

Elizabeth Warfield of 13 Swanage Road, 

Wandsworth, London. Listed in Soldiers Died Part 

73 as born in Dublin and in CWGC born in 

Clonmel, Co. Tipperary. Buried at Grangegorman 

Military Cemetery. Grave Reference. RC484. 
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Lucas, Private Francis (17687). 5th  Battalion 

Royal Dublin Fusiliers. Age 41. Born Leeds. 

Buried at Grangegorman Military Cemetery. 

Grave Reference. RC480. 

 

Neilan, Lieutenant Gerald Aloysius. 10th   

Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers. Mount Harold 

Terrace, Dublin. Killed by sniper on Usherôs 

Island on Easter Monday. Ex-student of 

Clongowes Wood. His brother, A. Neilan, took 

part in the Rising with the Volunteers and was 

deported to Knutsford Detention Barracks. Lieut. 

Neilan is buried at Glasnevin (Prospect) 

Cemetery, Dublin. Grave Reference. St.Brigidôs 

SH20521. 

 

Thompson, Private J. A. (24923). 5th  Battalion 

Royal Dublin Fusiliers. Buried at Kinawley C of I 

Churchyard, Co. Fermanagh. 

 

Watchorn, Private Abraham (25026). 5th 

Battalion  Royal Dublin Fusiliers. Age 21. Born in 

Wicklow.His father, also named Abraham, lived at 

Williamstown, Rathvilly, Co. Carlow. Buried at 

Grangegorman Military Cemetery. Grave 

Reference. CE625. 

 

More difficult to trace are those one-time 

members of the regiment who died in other 

circumstances.  The Dead of the Irish Revolution 

has uncovered the stories of four such Blue Caps 

who were killed during the War of Independence: 

two were members of the Auxiliary Division, RIC 

and two were civilians.      

 

John Donohoe was the son of Bartholomew 

Donohoe a shoemaker from Ratoath in County 

Meath.  He served as a private with the 4th 

Battalion, The Royal Dublin Fusiliers, was 

wounded during the 1916 rebellion, and also 

subsequently wounded in France.  After the 

Armistice he transferred to the Royal Field 

Artillery and was demobbed in March 1921.  

Three months later, he was taken from his home in 

Rathoath and shot dead. Bartholomew Donohoe 

told a Court of Inquiry at Dunshaughlin into his 

sonôs death that shortly after midnight on 14 June 

there was a knock on the door.  An armed masked 

man in a trench coat asked for his son and ordered 

the older man back to bed.  At about 4:00 a.m 

shots were heard about fifty yards from the house.  

The medical examiner found four entrance bullet 

wounds on the body.  At the time of his death, 

Donohoe was around twenty years of age and 

unemployed.  The Court brought a verdict of 

wilful murder against some person or persons 

unknown. 

 

Francis Joseph Farrell  was born in Dublin and  

served with the 2nd Battalion Royal Dublin 

Fusiliers before receiving a commission as a 

Lieutenant in the Tank Corps.  Like many other 

officers he joined the Auxiliary Division after 

demobilisation and was attached to óFô Company.  

On 14 March 1921, he was a member of a police 

patrol of two lorries and an armoured car that went 

to search St Andrewôs Catholic Club, 144 

Brunswick Street.  At the time, this was occupied 

by members of óBô Company, 3rd Battalion, 

Dublin Brigade, IRA.  The IRA guard on sentry 

duty fired at the police patrol when it reached the 

corner of Erne Street.  The driver of the leading 

lorry drove straight at the attackers allowing the 

Auxiliaries to dismount and rush the IRA men. A 

hand-to-hand struggle ensued leading to a number 

of deaths.  Three civilians and three members of 

the IRA were killed or subsequently died of their 

wounds.  Temporary cadet James Leonard Beard 

was shot in the head and Temporary cadet Farrell 

was severely wounded in the chest.  Both were 

admitted to King George V Hospital.  Farrell died 

shortly after admission at 10:00 p.m and Beard the 

following evening at about the same time.  At the 

time of his death, Farrell was twenty-eight years 

of age, single, and had just over five monthsô 

police service.  

 

William Alexander Mac Pherson had been a 

career soldier with twenty-four yearsô military 

service.  He had been a sergeant with the 2nd 

Battalion, The Royal Dublin Fusiliers.  His last 

attachment had been with The Royal Corps of 

Engineers.  Mrs Margaret Mac Pherson of 4 

Bridge Street, Mallow told a Court of Inquiry at 

Mallow, County Cork on 9 July 1921 into her 

husbandôs death that he had been suffering from 

illness contracted in India and had been awaiting 

hospital treatment.  He was unemployed being 

unfit for anything but light work.  At around 2:00 

p.m on 7 July one of her children told her that two 

neighbours had seen someone resembling her 

husband being bundled into a trap on Mallow 

Bridge.  William Mac Phersonôs body was found 

on the roadside at Knockpogue, about two miles 

from Mallow, at around 8:10 a.m the following 

morning.  He had been shot in the chest.   
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A label attached to the body read: óConvicted spy, 

spies and informers in Mallow beware we are on 

your track. IRA.ô  Mac Pherson had no record of 

any political activity.  The Court brought a verdict 

of wilful murder against some person or persons 

unknown.  During his ten yearsô of military 

service  

 

Christopher Wainwright , a native of Lancashire, 

had been a captain in the Royal Dublin Fusiliers 

and the Royal Irish Rifles.  He had been 

mentioned in despatches.  He joined the Auxiliary 

Division as a temporary cadet and was attached to 

óCô Company with the police number 72850.  He 

was one of seventeen Auxiliaries killed during the 

Kilmichael ambush near Macroom, County Cork 

on 28 November 1920, the details of which have 

been well rehearsed elsewhere.  At the time of his 

death, Wainwright was thirty-six years of age and 

had four monthsô police service.  

 

The four examples above remind us of the 

countless numbers who passed through the ranks 

of the Royal Dublin Fusiliers.  It also serves to 

indicate the depth and breadth of information The 

Dead of the Irish Revolution project hopes to 

document for each fatality enumerated.  This is no 

small task given the many hundreds involved.  

Some of these are, of course, well known.  But 

many other fatalities of Irish political violence are 

not even recalled in historical footnotes.  Yet they 

too have a story just as compelling or harrowing 

or ordinary. 

 
Note. My thanks to the Royal Dublin Fusiliers 

Association  for supplying some extra information on 

the above soldiers. 

 

A Dubôs Black and Tan. 
 

We received the following interesting email from 

Mr. Roger Davenport, Swallow Place, London.  

 

I have just been looking at the RDFA 

website, which is very interesting.  I 

didn't realise that the memory of the 

Irish Regiments, and particularly of 

the service  of Irish men & women in 

the Great War, is being kept alive after 

so many years. I have an interest in the 

RDF, which stems from a curious 

meeting many years ago.  In 1970/71, 

I was a young insurance broker 

working in Gravesend in Kent.  Our 

office was round the corner from the 

old Milton Barracks, which were then 

home to the Welch Regt.  After some 

months the Welch Regt. marched 

through the town and went off to be 

amalgamated into the Royal Regt. of 

Wales and the barracks were empty. 

 One lunchtime I went for a walk, and 

seeing that the gates were open and 

someone sweeping leaves, I went in to 

try and find out if another regiment 

would be moving in.  The answer was 

negative but I struck up a conversation 

with the elderly caretaker, who told 

me that he had served in the 1914-18 

war with the Royal Dublin Fusiliers, 

then with the Black & Tans, then with 

the Royal Ulster Rifles, with whom he 

went through the 2nd  World War.  The 

conversation stuck in my memory and 

I have often speculated on the fate of 

the old man who, after the army he 

had served for so long moved on, was 

left sweeping up the leaves.  The 

barracks were demolished a few years 

later to provide a new housing estate.   

I have never mentioned this story to 

anyone as it is of little interest to most 

people, but you somehow seem to be a 

suitable repository. 
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Nobodyôs Children. 
 

Tom Burke 

The Royal Dublin Fusiliers Association. 

 

On Wednesday 16 November 1927, the Irish 

government was defeated on  a motion put down 

by Captain W. A. Redmond  who appealed to the 

Executive Council, to ó appoint a Commission to 

inquire into the circumstances of British Ex-

Servicemen in the Free State.ô (1) The Government 

suffered a defeat on the motion and faced a vote of 

no confidence. The vote for the motion was sixty-

six and against was sixty-four. During the debate, 

the  Fianna Fail TD for Donegal, Mr Frank Carney  

spoke in favour of Captain Redmondôs motion. 

óThe Irish Timesô reported. 

 

 A good many members were 

surprised when Frank Carney rose on 

the Fianna Fail benches to support 

captain Redmondôs motion. Mr 

Carney was a non-commissioned 

officer in  the British Army himself, 

and, as he told the House, his only 

brother lies buried off Cape Helles, 

one of the heroes of the Gallipoli 

landing. As a matter of fact, there are 

more British Ex-Servicemen on the 

Fianna Fail benches than in 

Government. Despite the fact that the 

Opposition eschewed the Poppy on 

Remembrance Day, while a dozen 

Government supporters wore it, there 

are at least six ex-soldiers among Mr 

De Valeraôs followers. There were 

thousands of Ex-Servicemen in the 

Free State, who do not belong to any 

organisation, and their cases might be 

lost sight of. It had been said that fifty 

per cent of the Ex-Servicemen had 

been members of the National Army 

(Army of the Irish Free State)  and he 

was inclined to think that the other 

fifty per cent had been members of the 

IRA (Laughter). He declared that the 

Connaught Rangers who had staged a 

mutiny in India in order to aid their 

country at a critical period, had been 

disgracefully treated by the Free State 

Government and they should be 

included in the deliberations of the 

proposed Committee.  (2)   

Owing to the loss of his brother and being an ex-

British Army N.C.O himself,  Frank Carneyôs 

sentiments towards his old comrades  were  quite 

genuine. Every member of the Fianna Fail  and 

Labour Parties in the Dail that day voted for the 

motion. Despite the defeat, the Executive set up a 

committee to investigate grievous   claims made 

by Irish Ex-Servicemen who served in the British 

Forces during the Great War. The members of the 

Committee were Mr. Cecil Lavery K.C 

(Chairman), General Brown-Clayton from Co. 

Carlow who represented the Royal British Legion 

in the Irish Free State and Mr. P. Baxter, former 

member of the Dail for Cavan and ex-leader of the 

Farmers Parliamentary Party. The fourth member 

was Mr. M. J Beary, Secretary Dept. of Finance. 

The following was their terms of reference. (3) 

 

1. To determine the nature and extent 

of the claims made by such Ex-

Servicemen against the British 

Government in respect of rights 

alleged to have arisen out of past 

services. 

 

2.   To determine the nature and extent 

of their claims, if any, against the 

Government of the Irish Free State in 

respect of alleged discrimination 

against them in regard to employment 

on public works or otherwise. 

 

3. Report to the Irish Executive 

Council. (The Dail or Irish 

Parliament).  

 

In conducting their enquiry and presenting a 

report, the Irish Government were very sensitive 

not to upset their relationship with the British 

Government.  In a letter from the Department of 

the President of the Irish Executive dated 29 

November 1927 to the Chairman of the 

Committee on the mater of committee procedures, 

the Irish Government believed that the holding of 

public sittings was undesirable because such 

sittings could be used to voice criticism of the 

British Government in the matter of their 

treatment of Ex-Servicemen. It also might 

prejudice rather than assist claims. They also 

suggested that Ex-Servicemen bring their 

grievance through Ex-Servicemenôs organisations 

rather than as individual cases for fear of being 

snowed under with claims and paperwork.  
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The letter was signed by Diarmuid OôhEigertuigh. 

Runai. (Dermot Hegarty. Secretary) (4)  

 

This element of secrecy did not go down too well 

with some Ex-Servicemen.  At a meeting of the 

Ennis Branch of the Royal British Legion held  on 

9 December 1927, chaired by  the Right Hon. 

Lord Inchiquin, Patron of the Branch, a 

unanimous resolution was passed by the members 

opposing such a policy of secrecy. Their objection 

was that the alleged false promises on houses and 

jobs made by the British Government to their 

members and thousands like them  throughout 

Ireland should be publicly exposed. (5)  

 

The Committee met at No. 5 Ely Place in Dublin  

and at their first meeting on 8 December 1927, 

they agreed to analyse Ex-Servicemenôs 

grievances  under the following headings.  

 

1. Employment in Public Works - Equal treatment 

in the matter of preference for members of the 

National Forces and British ex service men. 

 

2. Housing - Soldiers and Sailor Trust - 

Inadequacy of program - excessive rents etc. 

 

3. Pensions. 

 

4. Emigration schemes. 

 

5. Unemployment benefit - Ineligibility of ex- 

British Soldiers for benefit in the Free State. 

 

On 12 December 1927, the Committee placed 

notices in the Press asking British Ex-Servicemen 

to  contact them with their grievances and asking 

for evidence to be presented through organisations 

such as the Royal British Legion. They declined to 

advertise the fact that they would look at 

individual cases.  Notices appeared in óThe Irish 

Timesô, óThe Independentô and the óCork 

Examinerô. Mr Baxter, (committee assailant) 

suggested that the majority of British Ex-

Servicemen did not belong to the British Legion or 

any other Ex-Servicemenôs organisation. He 

instanced the case of, ó British Ex-Servicemen 

who served in the IRA and would be unlikely to 

submit their grievances through an organisation 

such as the British Legion. ô (6) The problem of so 

many individuals who were not members of Ex-

Servicemenôs associations was taken up by 

 
Remembrance Day in Cork, November 1934. Over 1,000 

Ex-Servicemen and their relatives marched to the Cenotaph 

on the South Mall in Cork. 

 

Capt. Redmond and the Fianna Fail T.D, Mr. 

Frank Carney. In November 1927, Redmond 

received fifty letters from Ex-Servicemen asking 

him to act on their behalf.  
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He passed the letters on to the British Legion for 

their notice. Mr. Carney suggested advertising in 

local provincial newspapers calling on individual 

Ex-Servicemen to send in their grievances. 

Applicants had to submit four copies of their 

claims in typescript or print form. (7)  For  men 

who were not members of the British Legion, 

submitting four copies of a typescript proved  a bit 

difficult since many of them were unemployed, 

poor and living in poverty. Some of the Ex- 

Servicemenôs organisations to submit statements 

to the Committee were. (8) 

 

The Royal British Legion, Irish Free State. 

The National Federation of British Ex-

Servicemen. 

The Civil Service Clerical Association. 

The Ex-War Dept. Workers Association. 

The Municipal Ex-Servicemenôs and Dependants 

Assoc.  

The Assoc. of Ex-Civil Servants (London) 

The Non -Permanent Government Clerks Assoc. 

British Ex-Servicemenôs Branch. 

Ex-RIC Army Service Men. 

 

The Committee held eighteen meetings in total 

and sat listening to submissions by Ex-

Servicemenôs organisations and individuals from 8 

December 1927 to  18  November 1928. At their 

last meeting on 18 November, members of the 

Committee signed the  report they had compiled 

based on their findings. Despite their request in 

the Press for Ex-Servicemen not to present claims 

and grievances to the Committee on an individual 

basis, 539 individual Ex-Servicemen wrote to the 

Committee with their complaints. Of that 539 

individual cases, 438 were claims against the 

British Government of which 337 were related to 

war pensions and sixty-seven related to houses 

and land. Seventeen cases related to compensation 

claims for loss of employment by ex-British Civil 

Servants due to the establishment of the Irish Free 

State and seventeen were recorded as 

óMiscellaneous.ô  Eighty-one claims were made 

against the Irish government. These claims mainly 

related to allegations of preference in employment 

given to Irish Army Ex-Servicemen in favour of 

British Army Ex-Servicemen. The balance of 

claims was not within the terms of reference of the 

report. (9)  

 

The report stated that, the number of British Ex-

Servicemen ordinarily resident in the Irish Free 

State in November 1928, was 150,000. (10)  Under 

the five agreed headings in which the analysis of 

British Ex-Servicemenôs grievances living in the 

Irish Frees State was carried out, the following is a 

summary of the main findings outlined in the 

report issued by the committee to the Irish 

Executive Council in November  1928. 

 

1. Employment in Public Works. 

 

During the Civil War in Ireland (June 1922 - May 

1923), the Irish Free State Army had grown 

approximately to 52,000 men and 3,000 officers. 

When this war  ended in May 1923,  keeping the 

Army operational was a huge drain on State 

finances. Acting under Government instructions, 

the Minister for Defence and Commander-in-

Chief of the Defence Forces, General Richard 

Mulcahy, began a process of demobilisation and 

by January  1924,  G.H.Q. wanted to reduce the 

force down to 30,000 men and 1,300 officers. 

Final projections were for an army of 18,000 men. 

(11) The  result of this demobilisation was that 

there were now thousands of poorly compensated 

National Army Ex-Servicemen joining the already 

high numbers of unemployed.  In Dublin alone, 

one estimate put the number of unemployed 

British Ex-Servicemen at 30,000. (12)  

 

In order to soften the blow of redundancies in the 

National Army, the Irish Government decided that 

the following order of preference regarding 

employment in connection with works carried out 

of public funds should be observed. (13)  

 

1.  Members of the National Forces with 

dependants. 

2.  Ex- members of the National Forces without 

dependants. 

3.  Civilians with dependants. 

4.  Civilians without dependants. 

 

The Committee received evidence form British 

Ex-Servicemen that if work was available on 

Local Authority road and relief schemes, 

preference was given to National Army Ex-

Servicemen. The British Legion accepted that, 

ówhile it recognised the obligation of the Free 

State Government to give preference to ex-

members of the National Forces in employment 

schemes,ô they suggested that equal preference 

should be given to British Army Ex-Servicemen 

given the fact that they óare Irish citizens who are 
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living under great difficulties.ô The British Legion 

also acknowledged that, óon the part of the Free 

State Government, there was no discrimination 

against British Ex-Servicemen in connection with 

employment on road relief schemes etc.ô (14) 

Moreover, following a personal investigation 

carried out in the Irish Free State by  Lieut.-Col 

Crosfield, D.S.O, Chairman of the Royal British 

Legion, in a report dated August 1926 he stated 

that, ó he  could find no instance of such 

discrimination.ô (15)  

 

However, when it came to picking men for road 

works at local level, statements were submitted to 

the Committee from British Ex-Servicemen that, 

óthere was often discrimination by the Foreman of 

Works against British Ex-Servicemen.ô (16) On 20 

January 1928,  Mr. Peter Smith wrote to the 

Committee from Stonepark, Co. Roscommon. He 

served in France, Mesopotamia and Palestine and 

was suffering from gunshot wounds and malaria. 

Writing on behalf of County Roscommon Ex-

Servicemen on the issue of Ex-Servicemenôs 

employment, Mr. Smith noted. óWe have little to 

say as employment in this town and district are 

almost nil, but whatever employment is going, the 

Free State Ex-Servicemen get the preference.ô (17)  

The following is another example  of alleged 

employment discrimination  faced by  British Ex-

Servicemen at local  level. (18)  

 

23rd January 1928. 

 

Dear Sir, 

In response to a personal appeal by the 

British Postmaster General, Mr 

Herbert Samuels in 1915, I 

volunteered for service with the Forces 

in the War and enlisted in the Irish 

Guards and served in France and 

Germany and returned to civil life on 

demobilisation. In 1919 I resumed my 

work as auxiliary postmen. A vacancy 

for an established postman existed in 

the office and I acted on the route for 

three months. I was ill through war 

service for  twelve months and was 

placed on lighter duties until my health 

was recovered. 

 

In 1922 I was medically examined and 

was pronounced fit for the duties of 

the vacant appointment.  

On proceeding to perform the route I 

was threatened and told that, ex-

British soldiers were a thing of the 

past. The same had happened to two 

other men who attempted to perform 

the route previously and owing to the 

state of the country at the time, I knew 

this would be certain death if I 

attempted to carry on. Consequently I 

was not appointed. My chances of 

securing an established appointment 

are now nil, as with the change of 

government, vacancies will only be 

given to telegraph messengers who are 

ex-National Army men. 

 

I am at present acting on an 

established postmanôs route and am 

quite competent of discharging the 

duties and have no doubt that under 

the old regime I would have already an 

established appointment. I have 

nineteen years service in the Post 

Office.  

 

Yours, 

 Daniel Slyne.  

Auxiliary Postman.  

Inniskeane, Co. Cork.  

 

The Committee obtained some statistics on the 

number of men employed by Government 

sponsored County Council road and other 

construction schemes for the period December 

1926 to April 1928 inclusive. The average number 

of men employed by the Councils each month on 

these schemes was 17,674, of which 1,740 were 

ex-members of the National Forces, roughly ten 

per cent. Based on the fact that the number of 

National Ex-Servicemen employed in such 

schemes is so small, the Committee concluded on 

the complaint of discrimination that, óthere 

appears to be no real foundation for the 

complaint.ô (19)  In an open letter to óThe Irish 

Timesô, one well  versed and perhaps disillusioned 

British Army ex-Serviceman wrote of the Captains 

of Industry whom at remembrance time  would 

ease their  conscience by giving a, ólarge price for 

their poppy to  a pretty girl and can always be 

depended upon to speak gracefully and 

patronisingly about the lads and their sacrifices, 

yet will turn down an ex-Serviceman who appears 

before him in his office with a quest for a job.ô (20)   
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A considerable part of the Committeeôs time was 

devoted to investigating claims relating to  issues 

of employment in the Irish Civil Service by British 

Ex-Servicemen. Concerns were raised about 

conditions of employment and compensation for 

loss of employment due to the transfer of power. 

As part of the scheme for demobilisation of the 

Army after the Great War, the British Government 

reserved all temporary clerical posts in 

Government departments for Ex-Servicemen. (21)  

They set up the Lytton Commission  to study this 

policy and the Commission recommended that 

seventy-five per cent  of clerical vacancies were to 

be filled by Ex-Servicemen. The Ex-Servicemen 

who received these Civil Service jobs were known 

as Lytton Entrants. (22) 

 

In May 1923, there was constant agitation 

amongst Civil Servants in Britain on the issue of 

pay. The British Government, through the advice 

of a committee named the Southborough 

Committee, awarded a scaled salary increase for 

Lytton Entrants. (23) In Ireland, due to the change 

of administration, the Irish Lytton Entrants did not 

receive the rise in salary awarded to their 

colleagues in Britain and this was the source of 

their complaint to the Ex-Servicemenôs 

Committee. The report issued by the Committee 

on Ex-Servicemen stated that the salary review 

committee in Britain, i.e. the Southborough 

Committee, did not come into existence until 2 

May 1923 and their recommendations on pay 

increase to Lytton Entrants was not sanctioned by 

the Treasury until the 7  July 1923. By that time, a 

new Provisional Government had been established 

in Ireland. Up to November 1928, there was sixty- 

five British Ex-Servicemen permanently employed 

in the new Civil Service of the Irish Free State. 

With regard to the salaries of these men, the report 

acknowledged that the Irish Lytton Entrants were 

worse off than their British colleagues. However, 

their conditions of service were not altered. They 

were now part of a new administration and had to 

accept that reality.  (24)  

 

Because the Lytton Entrants  were permanent 

Civil Servants, they at least had the security of  a 

steady job and regular income. However, the 

situation regarding temporary Civil Servants was 

quite different. On the change of administration 

these men lost their jobs and had to re-apply to the 

Irish Civil Service for their job back. According to 

the report, these temporary ex-Civil Servants felt 

very grieved with both the British and Irish 

Governments. Their main grievance towards the 

British Government was that when the Treaty was 

negotiated they, i.e. the British Government, did 

not óprocure any provision binding upon the Irish 

Free State Government for continued security of 

tenure of transferred temporary ex-Service 

officials such as was enjoyed by ex-Service 

temporary officials retained in the service of Great 

Britain and Northern Ireland.ô (25) Their grievance 

towards the Irish Government was that it had 

dismissed temporary Civil Servants and had given 

no compensation after doing so. Also, when State 

examinations for permanent Civil Service 

positions arose, the dismissed men had to re-apply 

like all other Irish citizens. They were however 

now in competition with younger and perhaps 

brighter school leavers and Irish army Ex-

Servicemen. 

 

 
 
Members of the Leinster Regiment Old Comrades 

Association distribute Christmas Parcels in December 1938. 

 

 In June and July of 1925, the Irish Civil Service 

held entry examinations. They were open to all 

candidates between eighteen and fifty-five years 

of age on 1 June 1925 who had served on that date 

for not less than six months in a temporary 

capacity. (26) The British ex-Service personnel 

sitting these examinations alleged they were at a 

disadvantage because the examiners awarded a 

bonus of ten per cent of the marks if the questions 

were answered in the Irish language. Moreover, 

bonus marks were also awarded for those whom 

had served in the Irish National Army. It would 

not be a wild assumption that it was unlikely many 

of the ex-British temporary Civil Servants could 

speak the Irish language.  
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To add insult to injury, the Association of Non-

Permanent Government Clerks claimed that, ó not 

withstanding the disabilities under which they 

suffered in the 1925 examinationô they were 

ódenied admission to the subsequent limited 

competitive examination held in May 1927, 

though the ex-National Army men were admitted 

to bothô. (27)  The Association also claimed they 

could not sit the British exams either on the 

grounds óthat they were no longer serving in 

Government Departments in Great Britain.ô (28)  

In replying to the allegations made by the 

Association of Non-Permanent Government 

Clerks on the issue of Civil Service entrance 

exams held in 1925, the report stated that the same 

disadvantages  applied to non- permanent 

members of the Irish Civil Service who were not 

British Ex-Servicemen. On the issue of ex-

members of the National Army getting a head start 

with extra marks, the report stated that these 

marks were not included in the marks needed to 

pass the exam. The extra marks awarded to ex-

National Army men came into play when the man 

had in fact passed the exam and was only used 

merely to ó determine the position of ex-members 

of the National Forces in the list of successful or 

qualified candidates.ô  The exam was taken by 

1,250 candidates of whom 652 qualified and were 

made permanent. Of the 652 successful 

candidates, 120 received the Service marks 

awarded to Irish Army Ex-Servicemen. The 

number that failed to qualify was 598 of which 

155 were ex-members of the National Forces. (29) 

 

In July 1927, there was 658 British Ex-

Servicemen serving as temporary clerks in the 

Irish Civil Service. By March 1928, that figure 

was reduced to 158. By way of an explanation for 

the reduction, the report stated that some of the 

men obtained permanent positions, no numbers 

were given, some had resigned and some had died. 

They could not put a figure on the number who 

were ódischarged. ô (30) At least sixty per cent of 

the non-permanent clerks in the British Civil 

Service secured permanent posts in Britain. (31) 

One can only assume the number in the Irish Free 

State was much less. One of those ódischargedô 

statistics was Mr. Edward Gaffney from No. 2 

Ossory Road in the North Strand area of Dublin 

City near Annesley Bridge. On the advice of 

Major Tynan of the British Legion in Dublin, Mr 

Gaffney wrote to the Committee at Ely Place. (32) 

 

2nd March 1928. 

 

Dear Sirs, 

I have been advised by Major Tynan 

to place my case before you and 

earnestly hope you will give your kind 

attention to same. For twenty-one 

years I have been employed in the 

Royal Army Ordinance Department at 

Islandbridge during which time I was 

assistant foreman in the Barracks and 

Hospital Store. I went to Woolwich 

Arsenal and was employed during the 

Boer War. During my employment I 

was a very conscientious worker as 

my enclosed papers can testify. In 

1922 owing to the change of 

Government, I was thrown out of 

employment without any just cause or 

reason as I had given the utmost 

satisfaction all through my long 

service. For five years I have tried 

every means in my power to obtain a 

means of livelihood but without 

success. After five years of extreme 

privation and hardship my wife has 

died, I am absolutely destitute without 

a penny to procure even food and no 

chance whatsoever of employment. 

Although I can, I am willing to work 

at anything that will provide me with 

the absolute necessities of life, i.e. 

food and shelter. I have written to 

Capt. Redmond to pass my letter on to 

the Service Manôs Committee and I 

have been advised by the latter to state 

my case to you. I am earnestly hoping 

you will not turn my case down, I am 

at the end of everything and cannot be 

sure if I can continue to exist without 

work or keeps of some kind. I shall be 

so very grateful for anything that will 

keep me to carry on; I am willing to 

take any kind of employment.  

 

Thanking you in anticipation, yours 

respectfully, Edward Gaffney. PS . I 

was never in the Army, I was 

employed as a civilian, I have no 

pension. I got £55 - 9s-5d bonus in 

March 1923. 
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The question of compensation to temporary 

British ex-Civil Service clerks  in the Irish Free 

State became a court case which was ongoing  at 

the time of writing the report. Consequently no 

recommendations or suggestions were made on 

behalf of these men to either Government. 

 

The report concluded that the position of ex-

temporary Civil Servants, including the British ex- 

Service men ó is undoubtedly a difficult oneé. 

Many of them certainly suffered by the change of 

policy in the Civil Service consequent on setting 

up of the Irish Free State. In the British Civil 

Service, Ex-Servicemen were first in order of 

preference for absorption into the permanent 

service and last for dismissal whereas, in the Irish 

Free State Civil Service, another class, ex-

members of the National Forces, had certain 

limited advantages in examinations and had a 

preference for retention when discharge became 

necessary. It is hard to find the remedy. ô (33)  

 

2. Houses and Land. 

 

Under the Irish Land (Provision for Sailors and 

Soldiers) Act of 1919, up to 31 December 1923, a 

sum of £2,071,000 had been spent by the British 

government on land purchase and the construction 

of 1,508 houses in the Irish Free State and 408 in 

Northern Ireland, i.e.  a total of 1916 houses. (34) 

Under British administration, building was 

initiated by the Irish Local Government Board and 

continued  after Irish independence by the Irish 

Sailors and Soldiers Land Trust which had 

members appointed by the Dublin, Belfast and 

London Governments. The actual target set by the 

Trust up to the end of 1923 was 2,626 houses in 

the Irish Free State and 1,046 in Northern Ireland, 

i.e. a total of 3,672. (35)  In order to complete its 

target of house building and indeed carry on 

building, the Trust received from the British 

Government in March 1925, a final grant of 

Ã1,300,000 ó over and above the sum of 

£2,071,000 which had been spent under the Act of 

1919 in full and final settlement of all claims on 

his Majestyôs Treasury.ô (36)  

 

By March 1926, the Trust had completed 1,692 

cottages in the Irish Free State and 733 in 

Northern Ireland making a total of 2,425 cottages. 

(37) By the time the Committee on Ex-Servicemen 

had presented their report to the Irish Executive in 

November 1928, 1,923 cottages had been built in 

the Irish Free State and 880 in Northern Ireland. 

(38) Even if the Trust did reach its target of 

building cottages in the Irish Free State for the Ex-

Servicemen who lived there, sadly the target of 

2,626 houses split between 150,000 Ex-

Servicemen meant many were left out. On the 

grant issue, the report stated that, óin our opinion, 

the amount of money provided by the British 

Government was inadequate to provide 

satisfactory housing accommodation for British 

Ex-Servicemen in the Free State of the class for 

whom the houses built by the Trust would be 

suitable.ô (39)  

 

The Committee stated in their report that during 

the years of the Great War, óthose acting on behalf 

of the British Government in Ireland, in 

connection with recruitment of men for the Forces, 

made certain promisesé to provide cottages for 

Ex-Servicemené It was alleged that the promises 

in general were that such men would be 

adequately and properly housed and if necessary 

special legislation would be passed to provide a 

house.ô (40) This allegation was repeatedly made 

by the Ex-Servicemen in their statements to the 

Committee. However the Committee noted in their 

report that, ówe have not received any evidence 

that such promises were made in any formal 

manner or with sanction of the British 

Government. However, the Act of 1919 

recognised the obligation on the British 

Government to provide houses and gave the 

impression that all fit and suitable Ex-Servicemen 

would be provided with houses.ô (41)  

 

The housing of Ex-Servicemen was also an Irish 

Governmentôs problem and the report 

acknowledged this fact by stating that the Ex-

Servicemen in the Free State óhave the benefit 

with the rest of the community of all housing 

schemes for the relief of the housing problemô. In 

1926, 781,800 persons were living in overcrowded 

conditions in the Irish Free State. There was 2,761 

families, each numbering nine persons, resided in 

two room dwellings. In Dublin City the number of 

persons housed in dwellings with four or more 

persons to the room was 66,454. (42) In September 

of the same year, óthe Dublin Corporation had 547 

British Ex-Servicemen amongst their tenants or 

tenant purchasers. (43) The main problem the 

Committee identified was not only the lack of 

houses but also the high level of rents amongst the 

tenants of Trust dwellings.  
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Mr Peter Smith, a British Ex-Serviceman from 

Stonepark, Co. Roscommon in his letter to the 

Committee complained of the trap he found 

himself in over the high rent on his Trust cottage. 
(44) 

 

The cottages built in this district for 

Ex- Servicemen are in our opinion 

much too highly rented. They are in a 

very backward place with very inferior 

plots, mostly rock attached. It is 

absolutely impossible for a man in 

receipt of a few shillings a week 

pension or with no pension to pay the 

rent for one of these cottages and exist. 

The Land Trust let the cottages to men 

in receipt of very small disability 

pensions knowing very well that it was 

utterly impossible for them to pay the 

rent. When these unfortunate men fall 

into arrears with their rent, they are 

evicted.  

 

For the unemployed veteran, his problems went 

around in  circles. No job meant an inability to pay 

a rent, hence obtaining and holding on to a Trust 

house was  a difficult  task. Despite forty-three 

pages in the report on the issue of Ex-

Servicemenôs houses and land, the Committeeôs 

only suggestion on housing which was at least 

positive, was to reduce the rates on the houses run 

by the Trust. (45)  

 

Some Ex-Servicemenôs houses were built in the 

countryside but most were built in small estates 

near cities and towns. The largest housing 

development undertaken by the Board of Works 

was at Killester where 247 houses were built for 

Ex-Servicemen. Killester, with its own branch of 

the British Legion, was indeed an interesting 

project and worthy of note. Situated about six 

kilometres north of Dublin City, it was known to 

those who lived there as óThe Killester Colony.ô 

Construction of the houses, which were mainly 

cottages, began in 1920.  In true military tradition, 

the layout of these houses was in accordance with 

army rank. There were three neighbourhood 

groupings within the scheme of house. Ex-officers 

mainly occupied óThe Demesneô, which contained 

the largest houses. óAbbeyfieldô, which had the 

smallest houses were occupied mainly by privates 

and óThe Orchardô built in 1928, completed the 

development. Eventually, the Trust who ran the 

Estate had 289 houses at Killester. Like the 

railway workers at Inchicore, the veterans at 

Killester had a Legion Hall which, unlike 

Inchicore, was not burned down and  is still there 

to this day currently being used as a childrenôs 

ballet dancing school. Despite the idyllic country 

surroundings and nice bungalows in which to live, 

Killester did have its problems; most of all was the 

high level of rent the men had to pay. In 1926, the 

rent crisis at Killester resulted in a rent strike 

during which threats of eviction were carried out 

by the Trust. Following negotiations between the 

Trust and the British Legion, the rates at Killester 

were reduced. Along with the Ex-Servicemenôs 

houses came further development in Killester with 

the construction of St. Brigidôs Catholic  Church 

in 1924 and in 1928 a local school opened. (46)   

 

3. Pensions 

 

By far the biggest grievance the committee 

investigated was the issue of Ex-Servicemenôs 

pensions. In 1917, the British Government set up a 

separate Department of State  namely  the 

Ministry of Pensions to deal with all claims from 

disabled officers and men and from widows or 

dependants of deceased officers and men, arising 

out of service in the Great War. Due to ó ceaseless 

negotiationsô between the British Legion in the 

Irish Free State and the British Government, the 

Legion declined to give evidence to the 

Committee in relation to Great War pensions. (47) 

The main complaints on pensions furnished to the 

Committee by individual British Forces Ex-

Servicemen living in the Irish Free State ranged 

from cases where men had received no pension at 

all, to disability pensions that were cut off, to 

cases where the pensions received were totally 

inadequate. Of 268 individual pension cases listed 

in the Committeeôs archive file, 151 were from 

men who were either in receipt of a disability 

pension in whose opinion was totally inadequate, 

or from men who had their pensions terminated. 

Seventy-five were from cases of men who had no 

pension at all or who did not receive their full 

entitlements. Nineteen were from relatives of men 

who were killed in the war, the balance were 

miscellaneous claims. (48) 

 

Private  John Loughnane  served in the 6th Royal 

Munster Fusiliers. He received no disability 

pension. He enlisted on 14 August 1914 and  

served with his regiment  in the Dardanelles and 
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Serbia. He was wounded in September 1915 and 

spent three months in Hospital. Upon recovery he 

was transferred to the Royal Irish Regiment. He 

suffered from Malaria from April 1916 to 

November 1917. (49) 

 

 At this time I was sent to Palestine 

and the attacks were not so frequent. 

When I was being demobbed I did not 

understand that I should have made an 

appeal for a pension and since my 

return I have had several attacks of 

malaria and am at present three 

months ill and attending two doctors. I 

would be very grateful if you would 

get my case opened.  

 

Private P. Byrne, 1st Irish Guards, enlisted in July 

1915 and was sent to France. He was wounded in 

July 1916 and again in 1917. Recovered and 

marked fit on discharge from Hospital, he was 

sent back to France. He too wrote to the 

Committee. ó Sometime in late 1918 I was sent to 

hospital without reporting sick and detained in a 

mental hospital for nearly twelve months.ô The 

Thurles Branch of the Royal British Legion made 

an appeal for a disability pension on behalf of 

Guardsman Byrne. The Committee noted in their 

reply to the Thurles Branch that, ó this manôs case 

should be re-considered as he is incapable of 

making any statement on his own as he is still 

mentally deficientô. (50) 

 

The cases of Mrs. Johanna Cleary and Mrs. P. Mc 

Grath were particularly sad cases of inadequate 

pension entitlements. Both cases were submitted 

to the Committee by Captain  (Retd.) J.F Knox 

R.N of the  Thurles Branch, Royal British Legion, 

dated 2 March 1928. Mrs. Cleary lost her three 

sons in the war. They were Thomas, Joseph  and 

Patrick. Tom was a regular soldier and served with 

the 1st Leinsters. He was the first of Mrs. Clearyôs 

sons to die on 12 May 1915. Joseph served with 

the 6th Royal Irish Regiment and was the second to 

die. He died of wounds a little over a year later on 

31 May 1916. Patrick served with the 2nd Royal 

Irish Regiment and was killed during the German 

March offensive on 21 March 1918. (51) Mrs. 

Cleary was in receipt of eight shillings a week in 

total as a pension for the loss of her three sons. 

Her husband was old and unable to work. She 

complained bitterly that with eight shillings a 

week it was impossible to make ends meet. In 

their study of the case the Committee admitted 

that she had grounds for complaint.  Mrs. Mc 

Grath lost two sons in the war and was initially 

awarded a total pension of £1 per week. By March 

1928, this had been reduced to five shillings a 

week and was totally inadequate to provide her 

with the necessities of life. (52)  

 

Wounded men were given a disability pension for 

a period of time and cut off with a gratuity at the 

end of this time. The disability pension wasnôt for 

life.  An example of this was the case of Mr. 

Patrick Coyle from Henry Street, Roscommon. He 

enlisted on 17 September 1909 into the Connaught 

Rangers.  He served all through the Great War in 

France and the Dardanelles. He received a gunshot 

wound to the lung that caused him great pain in 

the years following the war. Granted a disability 

pension of seven shillings and six pence per week 

for eighty-seven weeks and a gratuity of ten 

pounds, his disability pension was cut off in 1923. 

Several attempts to have his case reviewed were 

unsuccessful. Another pension case is that of a 

Dublin Fusilier named Joseph OôConnor from 

Leixlip, Co. Kildare. (53) 

 

19th December 1927. 

 

Sir, 

I, Joseph Connor No. 12828. Private J 

Connor, Royal Dublin Fusiliers, state 

that I joined the Army voluntarily in 

1914  and served until December 1918 

on demobilisation. I left my own 

house where I was living with my 

mother who has fifty acres of ground. 

When I returned my younger brother 

was married, I only got a very paltry 

sum on my return. If I stayed at home I 

would probably have fallen in for this 

farm. I am now in very strained 

circumstances and will be glad if you 

will have my case considered at the 

commission about to be appointed for 

the British ex- soldier. I am to add that 

I had  a small pension and they took it 

from me and gave me forty pounds 

which owing to living with my brother 

I had to pay for board and lodgings for 

a considerable time back. Thrusting 

this case will get your kind attention, 

my disability is getting a lot worse.  
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Joseph OôConnor, Cappagh,  

C/O British Legion (Irish Free State)  

Mountrath Branch, Leixlip, Co. 

Kildare. 

 

Regarding those men who had not received any 

pension at all, according to the Committee, the 

source of these problems originated from the fact 

that many of the men were unaware of their 

entitlements. Hence the importance of the St. 

Vincent De Paul Society and institutions including 

the Royal British Legion in informing the men of 

their entitlements. óThe Irish Timesô 

acknowledged the work of the St. Vincent De Paul 

Society with Ex-Servicemen in an article on the 15  

November 1927. (54)  

 

 On the issue of pensions and related entitlements 

such as Health and Unemployment Insurance, the 

men themselves were not alone in their ignorance. 

The Royal British Legion in their submissions  to 

the Committee alleged on the issue of Health 

Insurance and Unemployment Benefit,  that Ex-

Servicemen, who by ó reason of their service in the 

British Army were compulsory contributorsô to 

Health and Unemployment Insurance schemes, 

were, ó not eligible for benefits in respect of the 

contributions paid to the British schemes during 

service in the British Army when on discharge 

became permanent residents in the Irish Free 

State.ô (55)  The Committee in their report 

established that this allegation was not true  and in 

fact pointed out that in relation to Health and 

Unemployment Insurance, reciprocal 

arrangements between the Irish and British 

Governments were in place since January 1924. 
(56)  
 

This reciprocal arrangement however did not exist 

between the Irish Free State and Northern Ireland. 

The Irish Labour Party and Trade Union Congress 

at its annual congress in Belfast in August 1928, 

condemned the rejection by the Minister of 

Labour for Northern Ireland of all proposals by the 

Minister for Industry and Commerce of the Irish 

Free State for reciprocal arrangements between the 

two Governments in respect of Unemployment 

Insurance and his failure to put forward alternative 

proposals. (57) By way of an explanation  as to 

why there was such ignorance of pension and 

other entitlements amongst British Ex-Servicemen 

in the Irish Free State, based on individual 

statements given by the men themselves, the 

Committee suggested that because a large number 

of the men did not belong to organisations such as 

the British Legion  etc., and,  were scattered 

around the country, bringing notice to them of 

their pension entitlements was difficult. By 

contrast in Britain, the Committee suggested, 

because the Ex-Servicemen were geographically 

concentrated and organised, they, i.e. the Ex-

Servicemen living in Britain, were more aware of 

their entitlements. The Committee also suggested 

that owing to the ódisturbed state of the country in 

the years 1918 to 1923ô, i.e. the War of 

Independence and Civil War, normal postal 

services were disrupted and letters dealing with 

pensions went astray. (58)  In some cases, the IRA 

got hold of such letters and knew who were the 

British Ex-Servicemen in their locality. Martin 

Forde from Listowl, Co. Kerry never got his 

pension because of IRA harassment. (59)  

 

23rd December 1927. 

 

Sir, 

I wish to lay before your committee 

the following facts. I had a total of  

nine years 316 days in the British 

Army, three years 259 days  which 

was spent in service abroad, and I 

belonged to the Labour Corps, Private 

H19896. In July 1917, I came home 

from France on a months leave. I was  

going back to my unit when at 

Newcastle West Co. Limerick, I was 

prevented from travelling from the 

British authorities in consequence of 

an outbreak of measles in the later 

town and had to return home and I was 

informed by them that I would be 

notified when I could travel, but I 

never received any notice. I was 

anxious to get back to my unit and 

wrote several times to the War Office 

but got no reply and returned my Pay 

Book with Captain Reid on his return 

to England from this town but never 

heard a word since. Then the troubles 

started in Ireland and early in 1918 the 

Mails were raided  and the IRA came 

to me and informed me if I rejoined 

the Army it meant instant death, so 

through fear I never did. I never got a 

penny gratuity or anything else so I 

would be grateful to your committee to 
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work up this for me and get my 

gratuity for me for which I would feel 

very grateful. Thanking you in 

advance and awaiting your reply, 

yours respectfully. 

 

Martin J Forde, Church Street, 

Listowl, Co. Kerry.  

 

During that ódisturbed periodô, Ex-Servicemen 

were fair game for the IRA. At least eighty-two 

were killed by the IRA prior to the Truce of July 

1921, this figure excludes ex-RIC army veterans. 

In total approximately 150 Ex-Servicemen were 

killed during that ódisturbed periodô. (60) One Ex-

Serviceman, Mr. William Callan from 

Williamstown, Mullingar, Co. Westmeath, joined 

the Royal Dublin Fusiliers in November 1915. His 

treatment by the IRA seemed light compared to 

others. In his submission to the Committee he 

wrote. (61) 

 

16th December 1927. 

 

Dear Sir, 

The  following is a statement off 

evidence which I propose to submit for 

the consideration of the above 

committee. I joined the British Army, 

the Dublin Fusiliers , on the 3rd of 

November 1915 and served with the 

Expeditionary Force in France for 

three years. I contracted appendicitis 

while serving in the trenches and was 

discharged following the termination 

of hostilities. On my return to civil life 

I found my job gone and as the 

superior was anti British in his views, 

my application for my old job was 

turned down which left me no 

alternative to try and seek employment 

as best I could in the midst of an 

unsympathetic community. Failing this 

I applied to the British Premier and 

was given land under the land 

settlement scheme for British ex 

Service men and an annuity which 

rendered the holding absolutely un-

solvent. ééé.Owing to the hostile 

activities of the IRA in the year 1921, 

that is to say the first year we had the 

land, it was rendered useless as we had 

no capital to work the land  and even 

prevent it from setting or selling 

meadows. This discrimination was 

carried out by means of threatening 

letters circulated and in all cases 

signed by order of the IRA, which can 

be still produced if 

requiredééSigned ,William Callan.  

 

 Mr Peter Lesley M.M. from Tyfarnahan, Croked 

Wood, Mullingar, Co. Westmeath joined the 

Leinster Regiment in November 1914 and served 

in Gallipoli and France. He lost a leg in battle and 

was discharged in May 1919. He was awarded the 

Military Medal with two Bars. Under the 1919 

Act, Peter was awarded sixty-two acres of land 

that he found he could not manage. He sent in a 

letter to the Committee claiming the IRA broke six 

windows in his house that cost him £12 to repair. 
(62)  
 

The Committee also suggested that for the same 

reason, i.e. the ódisturbed state of the countryô, 

notices placed in the Irish Press by the British 

Ministry of Pensions, ó were not brought to the 

notice of the men concerned.ô They concluded on 

the pensions issue by stating that, ónothing was 

brought to our notice to indicate, that as regards 

War Pensions, Ex-Servicemen in the Irish Free 

State are treated in any way differently from such 

men in Great Britain.ô (63)  They reckoned  that 

because the administration of War Pensions was 

such a huge undertaking, it was inevitable that 

some ócases of hardshipô would arise and in any 

event such cases were óin no sense peculiar to Ex-

Servicemen living in the Irish Free State.ô (64)  

 

Yet, despite this ignorance of Ex-Servicemen 

about their pension and disability entitlements, 

there was, according to the British Ministry of 

Pensions, five advisory War Pension committees 

operating in the Irish Free State in 1928 with a 

total membership of sixty-two persons. In addition 

there was 524 voluntary workers appointed by 

these committees whose function was to advise 

and assist Ex-Servicemen. According to the 

Ministryôs own figures, during the month of 

September 1927, they dealt with 3,602 cases in the 

Irish Free State, 456 applications were also dealt 

with and 1,711 disabled men examined. (65)  The 

Irish Government TD  for Mullingar, Co. 

Westmeath, Mr. W. P Shaw, defended the work of 

the Pension Committees and stated that if more 

people, particularly Dail Deputies, took a keener 
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interest in the work of the Pension Committees, 

more money would be available from the British 

Ministry. He also appealed for volunteers to assist 

the committees in their work. (66) To conclude  on 

pensions, the Committee on Ex-Servicemenôs 

report  suggested that individual pension claims 

should be sent to the Ministry of Pensions in 

London. (67)  

 

 
 
 A very rare photograph. From left. Major- General  Sir 

William Hickie, 16th (Irish) Division, Major-General Sir 

Bryan Mahon, 10th (Irish) Division and Major-General Sir 

Oliver Nugent, 36th (Ulster) Division in 1925 

 

4. Emigration.  

 

Under the Empire Settlement Act of 1922, certain 

financial provisions were made to assist Ex-

Servicemen in the United Kingdom to migrate to 

countries such as Canada, Australia and New 

Zealand. The Act was passed on 31 May 1922. 

British Ex-Servicemen living in the Irish Free 

State were not eligible for any benefits under the 

Act and this led to some grievance amongst the 

Ex-Servicemen mainly targeted against the British 

Government. Their claim was, that during the 

Treaty negotiations, the British Government knew 

an Irish Free State was going to be set up and they 

made no provision in the Treaty for their Irish Ex-

Servicemen in the Empire Settlement Act. The 

Committee suggested in their  report that the 

British Government should extend the benefits of 

the Act to their Ex-Servicemen living in the Irish 

Free State. The Committee also noted there was 

no widespread demand for the Empire Settlement 

Act to be extended to British Ex-Servicemen 

living in the Free State. (68)  

 

 

 

 

5. Special promises for employment and housing. 

 

In relation to the allegations of special promises 

made to some Ex-Servicemen, according to 

statements given to the Committee, it would seem 

that at the time of their recruitment into the British 

Army and Navy etc., some men were promised 

special treatment for their services. Their 

grievance was that when the war ended, the 

promises were forgotten about or denied they were 

ever made. In nearly all the individual letters sent 

to the Committee by Ex-Servicemen in relation to 

houses and jobs, the men claimed before they 

volunteered that they were promised  jobs and 

houses  when they came home. Here are a few 

examples. (69)  

 

7th May 1928. 

 

Dear Sir, 

The following is a statement of 

evidence which I wish submit to 

support my claim for resettlement 

under the Soldiers and Sailors Act 

1919. I joined the West Yorkshire 

Regiment in January 1916. I was on 

active service until demobilisation in 

1919. When I joined the Army I was 

promised by the British Government 

that they would re-start me in civil life  

and I claim that I have a right to the 

full implementation of that promise by 

giving me money to start a holding 

from the Irish Land Commission.  

 

Yours faithfully, Mathew Brady. 

Delvin, Co Westmeath. 

 

15th March 1928. 

 

Dear Sir, 

The following is a statement of 

evidence of my claim which I wish to 

submit for the consideration of the 

above committee. I joined the Army, 

the Inniskilling Fusiliers in 1916 and 

served for three years, was badly 

wounded and honourably discharged. 

Since then I am looking for 

resettlement under the 1919 Act and I 

claim that I am entitled to a holding or 

money to restart me in civil life as was 
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promised by the British Government 

during the war.  

 

Yours faithfully George Anderson. 

Clenarney, Delvin, Co. Westmeath.  

11th February 1928 

 

Sirs, 

I wish to bring before your 

Commission the grievances of ex-

soldiers of the British Army residing 

in the Irish Free State. Now 

gentlemen, after the war we were 

promised homes fit for heroes to dwell 

in and we are living in hovels in many 

cases not fit for human habitation. 

Various inspections for Trust sites for 

soldiers  dwellings  have been made 

here. They have looked at sites, 

departed and that is all the results of 

their visits so far. éé. We are 

gentlemen your faithfully servants, Mr 

Peter Donnelly for Monaghan ex 

Service men. Glasslough Street, Co. 

Monaghan.  

 

From the above letters to the Committee, it seems 

that promise making was a process that begun at 

the outbreak of war and continued on through the 

war  and even on after the war. Whether promises 

were made to men before they volunteered or not, 

the report presented no evidence that these 

promises were officially sanctioned by the British 

Government. However, for one man to claim he 

was promised a house or a job might be 

questionable, but, for so many men, recruited at 

various places all over the country to make such a 

claim, would suggest the men were telling the 

truth. It would seem that some of the recruiting 

sergeants had the same hymn-sheet from which to 

sing their recruiting song. Whether the eager 

recruits to Kitchenerôs army were deliberately 

misled or not, the evidence would suggest that 

they felt misled. In their efforts not to embarrass 

the British Government, the authors of the report 

could not make this claim and so the matter of 

promises was left non-proven. Perhaps in 

hindsight, there may be some element of truth in 

Mrs Sheehy Skeffingtonsôs  statement  when she 

spoke at a rally in Foster Place in November 1932. 

She ógrudged no honour to the dead who believed 

they fought for a good cause, even though they 

were dupesô. (70) 

RIC men who joined the army seemed to be given 

promises as well which were never fulfilled. On 

the 10 November 1914, the Inspector General of 

the Royal Irish Constabulary, Mr. Nevill 

Chamberlain, wrote to his County Inspectors in 

relation to members of the Force volunteering for 

the Army; 200 RIC men joined the Army and  

mainly enlisted into the Irish Guards. There were 

also about 100 RIC Reservists serving in the Army 

at the time. Chamberlain told his Inspectors that 

he was. (71) 

 

Gratified to be able to inform you that 

my proposal has been sanctionedéand 

such volunteers who will join the 

Army under this agreement will 

receive privileges as regards pay and 

pension on the line of those conferred 

on Reservists by the Irish Police 

Constables (Naval and Military 

Service Act, 1914). This means that 

they will, on return to the Force get the 

benefit of their previous service in the  

Royal Irish Constabulary and also of 

their service in the Army for the 

purposes of pay and pension.  

 

For his óproposalô to be ósanctionedô, Chamberlain 

must have made his proposal to somebody higher 

than himself either in Dublin or in London. What 

followed was an agreement between Chamberlain 

and his superiors, which included the terms on 

offer in relation to pay and pensions. In October 

1915, Chamberlain wrote to his County Inspectors 

again on the issue of RIC men enlisting into the 

Army. He wrote that any RIC man joining the 

Army, ó should fully understand that their 

temporary absence will in no way militate against 

their future prospects as regards promotion in the 

Force.ô  On the contrary, in fact  any RIC manôs 

willingness to ófight for his country will give him 

an additional claim to advancement in the Royal 

Irish Constabulary.ô (72)  Fifty of the 200 ex-RIC 

men who joined the army were killed during the 

War. (73)   

 

Submitting his statement to the Ex-Servicemenôs 

Committee in March 1928 on behalf of the RIC 

Army Volunteers, their representative James 

Hurley from Thurles, Co. Tipperary, stated that 

some of the 150 RIC survivors of the War were 

óto-day without any pension at all and had these 

men stayed at home they would have had a 
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pension from the RIC.ô  He also stated that in a 

circular issued by the Inspector General of the RIC 

in September or October 1914, that any member 

of the RIC who joined the Army ó will on his 

return to the Force be entitled to special privileges 

such as half his Police pay, special promotion, 

Army service to count as Police service.ô (74) 

 

Hurleyôs claim that his comrades were promised 

half their RIC pay while in the Army  led to an 

investigation by the Committee. In May 1928, 

writing as ó an old inhabitant of Dublin Castleô, 

Mr. W. Doolin, an official from the Irish 

Department of Finance, óunofficiallyô wrote on 

behalf of the Committee to a Mr. S.J Baker at the 

Home Office in London enquiring about the 

authenticity of this promise of half pay. As far as 

Doolin could ascertain, no such circular was 

issued to the Dublin Metropolitan Police. (75) 

Bakerôs reply  was that he could ófind no trace of 

any statement which could have given rise to an 

impression that any such payment would be made 

and that it seems to me to be inconceivable that 

the Inspector General or anyone else in authority 

could have made a promise which there was no 

statuary power to fulfil.ô He, Baker, reckoned 

Hurleyôs claim was a ógarbled version of the 

circular of the 10th of November 1914.ô (76)  The 

Committeeôs report concluded that, óour 

investigations lead us to the conclusion that all 

promises made to members of the Royal Irish 

Constabulary on enlistment were fulfilled up to 

the time of disbandment of that Force.ô (77)  

 

Some ex-RIC men who joined the Army did 

receive a pension, but it only lasted for five or six 

years after the war ended. Corporal Joseph Dunne 

from Kilmacrennan, Co. Donegal served in  the 

RIC before the war and during the war served in 

the Leinsters and the Labour Corps. After the war 

he did not return to the RIC pleading ill health. 

The real reason he did not go back to the  RIC 

was, as he wrote himself, due to óNational 

sympathiesô . He luckily obtained clerical work 

with the Letterkenny Fisheries Board in Co. 

Donegal. He received an RIC pension of £20-2s-

1d from 3 September 1919 to 21 August 1926 and 

an Army pension of eight shillings a week, 

roughly the same, for roughly four years after the 

war. In 1926, both sources of income were cut off. 
(78)  
 

For other RIC men who joined the Army, when 

the war ended, they had little choice but to go 

back to what they knew best despite the fear of 

being killed by the IRA. Things  however had 

changed in their old place of work. On such dark 

deeds, one ex-RIC man even pointed the finger of 

guilt towards members of the Irish Government. 

Patrick Mead was an ex-RIC man who enlisted in 

the Royal Army Medical Corps. He was later 

transferred to the London Irish Rifles and finished 

the war serving with the 1st Battalion of the 

Leinster Regiment. He served in France, Salonika 

and Palestine. (79)  

 

9th of January 1928. 

 

Dear Sir, 

The statement of evidence which I 

propose to submit for the 

consideration of the above committee 

effects the terms of reference both 

with the British and Irish governments 

on leaving the Army following the 

declaration of peace. I found on my 

return to civil life that the reception 

given to ex- British service men in the 

particular locality where I resided was 

one, which I least expected would be 

given any man who fought for his 

country. Contempt, to say the least of 

it was what I received. I was therefore 

compelled to seek a living for myself, 

wife and family in some other sphere 

of life where Ex-Servicemen would be 

better recognised and not treated with 

scorn as I found  awaiting my return. 

Having left the army with an 

exemplary character I decided to join 

the R.I.C. In this I was successful and 

again had established myself in a 

lucrative position until the Anglo - 

Irish war made it impossible for me to 

remain with that Force. Whilst at 

home on leave for a few days with my 

wife and children my house was 

surrounded by armed men who 

discharged shots all around, took me 

out and under the threat of being shot 

compelled me to give up my only 

means of living. These men were 

acting under direct orders from 

members of our present government. 

As I had no other means of living, I 
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solicited time to consider from the 

men who raided me and was given 

twelve hours to make up my mind 

under threat of death. I remained at 

home, at the same time I fortified all 

compensation regards the British 

Government. I can produce 

independent evidence of persons who 

were in my house the night of the raid 

to testify to the accuracy of this 

statement. I claim that my whole 

future career has been ruined by the 

action of the IRA on that occasion and 

I submit that I am firstly entitled to 

compensation as the direct cause of 

losing  my livelihood was brought 

about by members of the present 

Government then acting as officers of 

the IRA. I would be glad of a personal 

interview if necessary. Signed Mr 

Patrick Meade, Williamstown, 

Claddagh,  Mullingar, Co. Westmeath. 

 

Based on Chamberlainôs memo to his County 

Inspectors in November 1914, it would seem that 

the RIC men who joined the Army assumed they 

would get half their RIC pay and pension as well 

as an army pay and pension. This was not to be. 

The assumption made by the RIC men was a 

reasonable one to make, after all, if Guinness 

employees and Jameson employees could obtain 

half their pay while away at the Front, why 

couldnôt RIC men. Sadly, if one believes the 

British Civil Servant, Mr. S. J. Baker, the RIC 

menôs assumption was unfounded, the origins of 

which have yet to be established.  

 

 Conclusion. 

 

The report produced by the Committee on the 

claims of British Ex-Servicemen living in the Irish 

Free State ran to ninety-seven pages. In general, 

under its terms of reference, the Committee 

identified and presented the difficulties British 

Forces Ex-Servicemen were confronted with in 

relation to pensions, housing and jobs.  

 

Generally speaking all the grievances 

and disabilities complained of were 

grounded on claims to special 

treatment by reason of promises given 

or of war services generally, or were 

the result of the severance of the Free 

State Government from that of the 

United Kingdom. (80)  

 

These problems were not the sole property of 

British Ex-Servicemen and ówere in no sense 

peculiar to Ex-Servicemen living in the Irish Free 

State.ô (81)  The report failed to present the real 

story of misery and dejection experienced by the 

men as described  in their individual letters to the 

Committee, some of whom have been presented in 

this text. The report also fell very short on 

recommendations. On the issue of pensions, 

although some issues were clarified, their main 

recommendation was that the men should take up 

their case with  the British Ministry of Pensions. 

On housing, they found no evidence of promises 

made by the British government to give Irish men 

houses or land for their service before  or during 

the War. Their only recommendation was that the 

Irish Soldiers and Sailors Land Trust should 

reduce their rates. On the issue of unemployment, 

as per the promises made to the men  on houses 

and land, the Committee found no evidence of 

British promises made here either. The report 

established that since there were so few cases of 

óallegedô discrimination in Irish Free State 

sponsored construction projects, the matter was 

insignificant and no further action was taken.   

 

The treatment of  the majority  of British Ex-

Servicemen in the years after the War was a 

classic case of  falling between two stools of 

Government. One stool being the Irish 

Government and the other being the British. They 

were, as Mr. M. Heffernan, the Parliamentary 

Secretary to the Irish Ministry of Posts and 

Telegraphs called them in November 1927,  

ó nobodyôs childrenô. (82)  
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2nd Lieut. Michael J.L  

Oô Driscoll. 
 

Dan Oô Driscoll. 

The Royal Dublin Fusiliers Association. 

 

Michael Joseph Leo Oô Driscoll was born at  42 

East Essex Street in Dublin on 16 July 1892. His 

fatherôs name was Michael also and his motherôs 

name was Margaret Burke. Michael went to 

school in Strand Street until he was fourteen years 

of age. Like many young boys in those days, at the 

age of fourteen, Michael left school and got a job 

in Smiths umbrella shop at 28 Essex Quay where 

he worked for about five years making and 

mending umbrellas. Like a lot of young men 

consumed with a spirit of adventure, he decided to 

join the army. On 26 October 1912, Michael 

enlisted into the 4th Battalion of the Royal Dublin 

Fusiliers and was given the rank of Private and the 

regimental number 8771. He signed on for six 

years in the regular army after which he would go 

onto the Reserve. When the war broke out in 

August 1914, he was still with the 4th Dublins. On 

3 May 1915, he was promoted to the rank of 

Corporal. Just over a year later he was appointed 

to the rank of   Sergeant and on 9 March 1916 was 

posted to the 1st Royal Dublin Fusiliers. At that 

time the 1st Dublins were at Suez on their way to 

Alexandria where they would board ship for 

Marseilles. They were making their way to France 

having spent the previous few months battling 

through the tragedy of the Gallipoli campaign.  

 

Michael met up with his battalion in France. He 

came through the Battle of the Somme but was 

admitted to a field hospital suffering from 

exposure as a result of the terrible winter of 

1916/17. On 2 January 1917, Michael applied for 

a commission into the infantry. Two days later he 

came back to Dublin and on 28 January 1917, he 

married his childhood sweetheart named Mary O 

Brien in the Church of St. Michaelôs and Johns. 

His application for a commission was successful 

and on 11 February he was transferred to the 21st 

Officer Cadet Battalion. He was sent to train in a 

place called Haig Hutments in Crookham in 

Hampshire. On 30 May 1917, he was 

commissioned as a 2nd Lieutenant into the 3rd 

(Reserve) Battalion of the Royal Irish Fusiliers 

and was transferred to Glenfield Camp, 

Clonmany, Co. Donegal. Shortly afterwards he 

was sent to Belgium and served with the Royal 

Irish Fusiliers (The Faughs) in the Third Battle of 

Ieper, more popularly known as Passchendaele. 

He was one of the lucky ones. Amazingly he 

survived the Somme, Passchendaele  and the 

German and British offensives of 1918. His war 

ended when he was shipped home to  Calais on a 

hospital ship on 1 November 1918. When he 

reached Southampton, he was sent to the 3rd 

London General Hospital suffering from 

dysentery. My father was demobilised on 5 

September 1919 and relinquished his commission 

on 17 June 1920. In the early 1920s, my father and 

mother, with their young family, moved to a new 

house in the parish of Marino on the north side of 

Dublin City. Ironically, German contractors built 

the houses. As a child, we knew the houses as óthe 

Jerry built houses.ô   

 
 

2nd Lieut. Michael OôDriscoll in the uniform 

 of a Royal Irish Fusilier. 

 

My father worked in the large Dublin department 

store in Mary Street named Todd Burns. Pennys 

now occupy the site. The Irish Volunteer, Harry 

Boland, worked in Todd Burns as a Cutter in the 

tailoring department.  
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My father devoted much of his spare time to the 

Catholic Boys Scout movement in Dublin. He and 

an ex-Army Chaplain friend of his named Fr. Mc 

Grath, formed a branch of the Catholic Boy Scouts 

in the parish of St. Michael and Johns on Essex 

Quay in Dublin where he was married. At that 

time, my father was affectionately known as 

MOD. Fr. Mc Grath and my father got an ex-

Army drummer and an ex-Army piper to teach the 

boys in the Scouts music. They became a very 

popular marching troop in Dublin. Among their 

many highlights was their participation in the 

Eucharistic Congress in 1932. In 1934, my father 

led the troop of Dublin Boy Scouts on a 

pilgrimage to Rome. There was a great turnout of 

well-wishers who waved him and the boys 

goodbye from the Dublin docks. It took them three 

days to get to Rome. 

 

My father would very rarely talk about the war 

and I never knew the full story about the German 

rif le that we had mounted on the wall in our 

house. It wasnôt until I met a man at my motherôs 

funeral that I found out the history of the rifle, the 

man, who knew and served with my father in 

France, told me my father was a very brave man. 

óSometimes at nightô, he said óyour father would 

ask for volunteers to go out on reconnaissance 

raids on the German line.ô The Germans no doubt 

done the same thing too and the groups of men 

would, on occasion, meet each other in the dark. 

The story goes that one night my father heard a 

German voice calling out from behind. The voice 

cried óHaltô. My father dropped his weapon and 

put his hands up in the air to surrender. One of my 

fatherôs men nearby didnôt surrender. He shot and 

killed the German soldier. The rifle belonged to 

that young German. He once told us that some of 

his soldiers had no gas masks. He said they kept a 

bucket of urine in a part of the trench in case of a 

sudden gas attack. The urine was used to soak a 

handkerchief or rag in and hold it over the menôs 

nose and mouth and breath through it until the gas 

passed.  

 

Another story he told me was one time when he 

was in Beggars Bush Barracks in Dublin. He and a 

colleague of his were sent out to arrest a deserter 

and bring him in. They arrested the man and he 

pleaded with them, not to make a show of him and 

he would go quietly. This was agreed. As they 

were bringing him back to the barracks on a tram, 

didnôt the man jump from the ram and escaped, 

never to be seen or heard of again. Michael had a 

good laugh telling this little story. No doubt there 

were many more stories, some probably too sad 

and gruesome for my young ears. 

 

In the 1930s, when I was a child, the abiding 

memory I have of my father is that of him being a 

very sick man. Like many an ex-Serviceman of 

the Great War, he spent a lot of time in and out of 

hospital. He suffered a lot with bronchitis. He 

never really got over the effects of a gas attack he 

had come through. Moreover, having been 

weakened by dysentery at the end of the war 

didnôt help him either. The war my brave and dear 

father had come through finally took its toll and he 

died on 7 January 1941 in the Adelaide Hospital in 

Dublin. He was just forty-eight years of age. My 

mother, Michaelôs childhood sweetheart Mary 

OôBrien, died seven years later in 1948. My father 

had expressed a wish, that when he died, he would 

be buried with his comrades in the Military 

Cemetery at Blackhorse Avenue in Dublin. 

Michaelôs wises were respected and he was laid to 

rest in the presence of his family, his friends, the 

Boy Scouts whom he loved and his old friend Fr. 

Mc Grath. Michael Joseph Leo Oô Driscoll, MOD 

to his friends, one of Dublinôs finest men, may 

you rest in peace. 

 

Note. The dates associated with my fatherôs 

military career were obtained from records at the 

British Ministry of Defence. 
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Lieutenant David Devlin M.C. 

2nd Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers. 
 

Michael D. C. OôDevlin 

The Royal Dublin Fusiliers Association. 

 

My grandfather, David Devlin, was born on 16 

May 1894 at Number 4, Kenmare Street, Belfast, 

the eldest son of Thomas Henry and Margaret Jane 

Devlin (nee Freeland). He was a keen swimmer 

and water-polo player, as were his brothers. He 

attended Esdale College and Connellôs Institute in 

Belfast before becoming a Clerk in the Civil 

Service, initially in London, where he joined the 

Civil Service Cadet Corps. He was transferred 

shortly afterwards to Dublin in August 1913 

where he became a Clerk in the Veterinary 

Division of the Department of Agriculture and 

Technical Instruction, Ireland. 

 

Although working in Dublin, he was attested for 

the Territorial Force on 8 April 1914, joining the 

6th (Territorial ) Battalion, 42nd Highlanders, The 

Black Watch at Perth, giving his  age as nineteen 

years and ten months. He gave his address as 127 

Upper Rathmines, Dublin. As the regiment only 

recruited men from its recruiting area, he declared 

he had been born in Aberfeldy, Perthshire. His 

Regimental Number was 265288 and his height 

was recorded as five feet and eleven inches. 

 

On the declaration of war, the Territorial Army 

was mobilised, mainly for home service. The 

1st/6th (Perthshire) Battalion of the Black Watch 

was mobilised in Tay Street, Perth, as part of the 

Black Watch Brigade. On 6 August, the battalion 

was at Queensferry as part of the Forth Defences 

and in November  it was assigned to the Tay 

Defences. It was during this time that he met his 

future wife, a Miss Alsion Wilson. She was a Red 

Cross Nurse in Dundee for most of the war. On 6 

April 1915, the battalion joined the 2nd Highland 

Brigade, Highland Division at Bedford for service 

at the Front. 

 

The Brigade embarked at Folkstone for France, 

landing at Boulogne on 2 May 1915. Pte. David 

Devlin came to France with his Black Watch 

battalion as a member of óCô Company. On 12 

May, the 2nd Highland Brigade became the 153rd 

Brigade of the 51st (Highland) Division. The 1st/6th 

Black Watch battalion remained with this brigade 

for the remainder of the war. His record states that 

he was wounded on 23 June 1916 and shortly 

afterwards was promoted to Corporal. He was 

evacuated, and by the time he returned to his 

battalion at Halloy, the battle of the Somme had 

begun. By the time he  During the early stages of 

the Battle of the Somme. As part of the 51st 

(Highland) Division, the 1st/6th Black Watch 

moved to Merricourt to take part in the Somme 

offensive. From Merricourt it marched  to Mametz 

Wood where it went into the reserve line on 21 

July 1916. Four days later on 30 July, the Black 

Watch attacked the eastern corner of High Wood.  

 

The name 'High Wood' more than likely derived 

from the fact that the wood was at the top of a 

slope on slightly higher ground. In fact, the 

elevation is not that great,  but in a relatively flat 

landscape, height and therefore improved vision, 

was of great advantage. The real name of High 

Wood, as used before the War and as marked on 

French maps today, is Bois de Fourcaux, relating 

to pitchforks. The Germans held it in July 1916 

and were not about to give up this height 

advantage lightly. High Wood was the last of the 

major woods in the Somme offensive of 1916 to 

be captured by the British. The fighting in Mametz 

Wood was grim, and in Delville Wood it was 

terrible, but they eventually fell, as did Trones 

Wood. Following a creeping barrage, the infantry 

attack on High Wood on 30 July began in the 

evening at about 6:10 p.m. Like most German 

defences along the Somme front, machine-guns in 

the Wood that were not knocked out by the British 

barrage, held back the Black Watch who had to 

withdraw. By dawn on 31 July they had suffered 

close on 230 casualties. At the end of this July 

attack there were few gains and High Wood 

remained firmly in German hands. Despite a 

whole series of attacks spanning two months to 

take High Wood, it didnôt fall until 15 September 

1916 when the attack was led mainly by the 47th 

(London) Division. It was never fully cleared after 

the war and it is estimated that thousands of dead 

soldiers, British and German, still lie today in 

High Wood. 

 

On the day the Black Watch attacked High Wood, 

David Devlin was promoted to Corporal. Many 

years after the war, David recorded the memory of 

this attack in a poem he wrote titled, Defeat at 

High Wood. (See Poetry section in this edition of 

The Blue Cap.) 
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Following a visit in the 1930s to the recently built 

Scottish National Memorial in Edinburgh, David 

Devlin commented on the friezes portraying the 

war. 

 

A younger generation and those who failed 

to serve may have needed the beautiful 

friezes to tell the story line by line. But it 

was no sculptured column of route that I 

saw, it was the living column, smoking, 

sweating, swaying, rhythmically along the 

road in the direction of the evil-smelling 

horror that was High Wood. Meaulte had 

been the rallying point for the survivors of 

that futile attack, but the Memorial that 

afternoon was surly the rendezvous of those 

others. And they were there; many I knew 

and had last seen in the dun smoke of the 

barrage lying slackly prone on the matted 

grass of neglected and tormented fields. I all 

but saw the familiar faces, all but heard their 

familiar greetings. 

 

Following its withdrawal from High Wood, the 

battalion marched to Meaulte on 1 August and on 

6 August to a camp between Buire and 

Henencourt. They were later moved to the 

Armienteres sector near the Belgian border. They 

were moved about quite a bit over the next few 

months. More than likely they, like many 

battalions after the Somme, were given some time 

out to regroup. By the end of October 1916, the 

Black Watch were in Forceville and it was from 

here that  David was evacuated  to a Field Hospital 

suffering from pleurisy. He was sent back to a 

hospital in England to recover. He also spent some 

time recovering in Scotland after which he went 

on leave to  Belfast for a few days around the end 

of November. While he was away, his battalion, as 

part of that famous 51st(Highland) Division took 

part in the battle to take Beaumont Hamel at óYô 

Ravine on 13 November 1916, the day the Battle 

of the Somme officially ended. Black Watch 

suffered a loss of 226 casualties. The village of 

Beaumont Hamel was one of the first day 

objectives that faced the 1st Royal Dublin Fusiliers 

and other battalions of the 86th Brigade in the 29th 

Division back in July. It didnôt fall until 13 

November. At 5:45 a.m. on the morning of 13 

November 1916, the 51st (Highland) and 63rd 

(Naval) Divisions attacked the Germans in their 

last defiant  fortress at Beaumont Hamel. The 

assault commenced over a depressing and dripping 

battlefield that was shrouded in fog. This 

effectively covered the movement of the troops 

who burst upon the surprised Germans. Across the 

River Ancre, units of the 63rd  (Naval) Division 

battered their way into the German front line. In a 

driving snowstorm that turned to sleet and then 

rain, the 10th  Royal Dublin Fusiliers, supported by 

two tanks that got stuck in the chalky mud, played 

an important roll in taking Beaumont Hamel. 

 

 
 

Lieutenant David Devlin M.C. 

2nd Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers. 

 

On 30 December 1916, David Devlin completed 

an application form for admission to an Officer 

Cadet Unit, giving his address as Upper Prince 

Edward terrace, Blackrock, Co. Dublin and his 

fatherôs occupation as an engineer. He indicated a 

preference for to be commissioned into the 

infantry, listing the following regiments in order 

of preference; The Royal Dublin Fusiliers, the 

Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers and the Royal Irish 

Regiment., Davidôs application for a commission 

was successful and early in 1917 he  joined the 

No. 18 Officer Cadet Training Battalion at Prior 

Park near Bath in England.  
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Here, he completed a course that lasted 

approximately four months. The next entry in his 

file states he was discharged to a commission on 

28 August 1917.  It is unclear why, after finishing 

his four-month training period that he wasnôt sent 

to a battalion until late August. There is a 

possibility that his appointment was delayed on 

account of ill health. He was commissioned a 2nd 

Lieutenant and sent to the 3rd  (Reserve) Battalion 

of the Royal Dublin Fusiliers. Luckily for him he 

wasnôt sent straight to a Dublinôs battalion in 

France or Flanders which by that time had taken 

part in the Battle of  Wijtschate and Messines 

(Mesen) Ridge and later in mid-August  at the 

practical annihilation of the  Dublinsô battalions 

on the  Frezenberg Ridge. 

 

When David joined the 3rd  (Reserve) Battalion of 

the Royal Dublin Fusiliers, they were re based in 

Aghada, Co. Cork. In November 1917, the 

battalion moved to Pembroke and in December to 

Gateshead. In May 1918, the 3rd (Reserve) 

Battalion absorbed the 4th, 5th and 11th (Reserve) 

Battalions and spent the rest of the war in the 

Grimsby area as part of the Weelsby and 

Waltham, Humber Garrison. It is believed that the 

reserve battalions of the Irish regiments based in 

Ireland were moved to Scotland and England 

because of the political unrest in Ireland following 

the Easter Rebellion in April 1916. On 29 August 

1918,  2nd Lieut. David Devlin was posted to the 

2nd Royal Dublin Fusilier in France as a platoon 

commander, almost a year after his posting to the 

3rd (Reserve) Battalion. At that stage in the war, 

the battalions at the front were crying out for 

experienced men, particularly officers. Again, it 

may have been his poor state of health that may 

explain why he spent almost a year with the 

Reserve battalion and not with a battalion in 

France. It had almost been two years since he was 

at the front with the Black Watch. By that time the 

war had changed drastically. David had missed 

another major battle; this time it was the German 

March offensive of 1918. This battle drifted into 

failure over the summer months and by the time 

David joined up with the Old Toughs, they were 

on the counter-attack eastwards. They had been 

removed from the 16th (Irish) Division and put 

into the 149th Brigade of the 50th Division. In 

October 1918, the 2nd Dublins were back fighting 

the Germans near the village of Le Cateau. 

Ironically it was near this same French village 

they had started their adventure in the Great War 

back in August 1914. The only official entry in the 

battalion war diary of the 2nd Dublins that 

mentions David Devlin is in the Appendix for 

November 1918. óAwards for gallantry in the field 

during operations of October and November were 

granted to the under- mentioned of the Battalion 

é.M.C. 2nd Lieut. Devlin.ô The award of the 

Military Cross was published in the London 

Gazette on 8 March 1919, page 3239. 

 

For gallantry and devotion to duty on the 

18th October 1918 NE of St.Benin When his 

company commander had been wounded 

and the Company had lost direction to a fog, 

and was being enfiladed from a farmhouse 

occupied by machine gunners, he corrected 

the direction by compass, and organised an 

attack on the farmhouse which he captured 

with three machine guns, thus assisting the 

advance of the Battalion which had been 

held up. Subsequently when his men had 

advanced into our own barrage and became 

disorganised, he withdrew and reorganised 

them with coolness and complete disregard 

of the great personal risk which he incurred. 

 

Not bad for a man that was not in the prime of 

health. On the last day of the war, the Old Toughs 

were near Dourllers north of Avesnes in France. 

On Sunday 1 December 1918, the Old Toughs 

went to Church in Avesnes. During January and 

February 1919 they were stationed at Le Quesnoy, 

where in due course demobilisation and Schools 

of Instruction to prepare soldiers for civilian life 

were organised. óAô and óDô Companies of the 

battalion were formed of those non-commissioned 

officers and men who were employed in a trade or 

had settled occupations before enlistment and 

whose re-employment in civil life was assured. 

óBô Company took all serving soldiers attending 

the battalion school. óCô Company was made up of 

those men with or without trades who had no 

prospect of work on return to civilian life. By the 

end of January 1919, the strength of the 2nd 

Battalion of the Dublins was reduced to four 

officers and 109 men of other ranks. A 

confidential report on  2nd Lieut. Devlin by the 

Commanding Officer of the 2nd Dublin Fusiliers, 

Lieut.-Colonel. Weldon, dated 21 December 1918, 

recommended David for promotion, notes his 

proficiency in French and his capacity for hard 

work.  
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The report stated David was. óAn excellent officer 

ï full of confidence, personality, drive and tactful, 

a born leader.ô There is no doubt that David 

Devlin had a love and command of the English 

language. His powerful use of language in his 

poem on High Wood demonstrates that ability in 

abundance. His talents were spotted and put to use 

in the Schools of Instruction where he helped men 

who were not exactly gifted in the Queenôs 

English in the skill of letter writing, a kill that 

many of them would need in the years ahead when 

they went looking for work. 

 

David was demobilised on 22 January 1919. A 

note from his commanding officer at Le Quesnoy 

dated 21 January 1919 stated that David. 

 

Afforded considerable help in the 

organisation of the Battalion schools under 

the Education Scheme. Devoted himself 

with great energy and ability to the different 

classes under his care. His chief subjects 

were English literature, shorthand and 

precise writing and essay writing, and in all 

these subjects his pupils made excellent 

progress. In military matters he was an 

exceptionally good instructor in bombing 

and all it branches. He has plenty of tact and 

personality, is a real leader of men, always 

cheerful in adverse circumstances. 

 

After he was demobilised, David returned to 

Dublin and his job in the Civil Service. 

Accompanied by his mother, he was decorated 

with the Military Cross by King George V at 

Buckingham Palace on 22 May 1919. He 

relinquished his commission on 1 April 1920 and 

was granted the honorary rank of Lieutenant. At 

that time, his next of kin address was listed as 

Thomas Henry Devlin, 7 Donegall Square West, 

Belfast. 

 

David married the Red Cross nurse he met in 

Dundee, Miss Alison Evelyn Wilson, the eldest 

daughter of Gavin Laurie by his second wife, 

Allison Johnston Russell, in June 1920 at St. 

Fillanôs Church, Newport-on-Tay. (The church is 

now demolished, along with a stained glass 

window, given by the Wilson family in memory of 

their son, Gavin Arthur Wilson, who died of 

wounds while serving with the London Scottish 

during the war. Their eldest son, Gavin, was born 

in Dublin in April 1921 and in the summer of the 

same year, David Devlin gained a First Class 

Honours Degree and was awarded a Junior 

Moderatorship in Mental and Moral Philosophy at 

Trinity College, Dublin, having studied while 

working and coping with a young family in a city 

in some turmoil leading up to the establishment of 

the Irish Free State. 

 

While David was working in the Civil Service in 

Dublin, he lived in Monkstown. His next-door 

neighbour was the anti-Treaty Irish Volunteer, 

Rory OôConnor. Each man was aware of the other 

manôs history; OôConnor, knew that his neighbour 

was a Protestant British Army ex-Serviceman and 

working in the Civil Service. Devlin was aware of 

OôConnorôs republican links and anti-treaty 

stance. One winter morning in 1920 or 1921, 

while walking to work as usual, a man in an 

overcoat with his hat pulled down bumped into 

David Devlin and at the same time said to him. 

óNot that way this morning Mr. Devlin.ô As 

Dublin at the time was a dangerous place, 

particularly for men with Devlinôs credentials, 

David heeded his warning and took a roundabout 

route to his office, to find out as he approached 

that a group of republican irregulars had 

ambushed some Government officials near his 

destination. He realised, having recognised the 

voice, that the unknown man who had warned him 

was his next-door neighbour, Rory OôConnor. On 

9 December 1922, Rory OôConnor along with 

three other anti-Treaty republicans was shot on the 

orders of the Irish Free State Government. They 

were captured by pro-Treaty forces at the Four 

Courts in July that year. 

 

Having been given the option of staying within the 

new Irish Free State or moving to Northern Ireland 

on partition in 1922, David Devlin chose to 

transfer to the Northern Ireland Civil Service in 

the Ministry of Commerce, where he worked for 

the rest of his working life in spite of recurring ill-

health. He had a new house built on the Circular 

Road near Strathearn on the outskirts of east 

Belfast that was called Windy Knowes. From the 

house were distant views of Belfast Lough. It was 

here that their children were born and brought up. 

He was a keen gardener and built an extensive 

garden with a pond and a tennis court. He took up 

bee keeping as his father had done before him. He 

continued to write both poetry and prose. Visiting 

the grave of his nephew, Gavin Laurie Wilson, 

after the war, he recorded his thoughts in a poem 
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titled Bac-du-Sud 1936. (See Poetry section in this 

edition of the Blue Cap) 

 

In researching my grandfatherôs record of service, 

I was also drawn to that of my maternal 

grandfather, Captain Harry Williams M.C., 1st 

Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers. He was one of four 

brothers, all of whom served in Irish regiments. 

He was the sole surviving son of the Derry family, 

all old boys of Foyle College. (See poem written 

by Michael OôDevlin titled Captain Charles 

Beasley Williams in poetry section in this edition 

of the Blue Cap.) 

 

My grandfather, David Devlin died at the age of 

sixty-seven on 23 December 1961 after working in 

his beloved garden. He is buried at Dundonald 

New Cemetery, Belfast. His wife Alison died in 

Belfast in 1987. May they both rest in peace. 
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William Joseph Nagle. 

óDô Company, óThe Palsô, 

7th  Royal Dublin Fusiliers. 
 

Bob Nagle 

The Royal Dublin Fusiliers Association. 

 

In autumn 1914, William óBillyô Joseph Nagle, an 

enthusiastic Dublin Rugby Footballer, volunteered 

to join óDô Company of the 7th Battalion Royal 

Dublin Fusiliers, better known as The Pals.  

During August and September, the President of 

the Irish Rugby Football Union, F. H. Browning, 

was raising volunteers and encouraging men to 

enlist in the Army. In the ranks of this group of 

three hundred young men were many rugby 

players and other sportsmen - many of them from 

the middle class best-educated young men of 

Dublin. Billy was a dairy farmer from Sillogue in 

north county Dublin, near Ballymun in fact. He 

had recently become head of his family after his 

father had passed away only a few months earlier. 

He played for St Maryôs College second XV in the 

competition final of 1910ï11 and his winners cap 

is still in our family.  

During training, óDô Company inevitably played 

rugby and he was photographed with the team and 

the 31st Infantry Brigade in the Irish Life on 12 

March 1915. In April 1915, after a few months 

basic training at the Curragh, The Pals marched 

through Dublin to cheering crowds and left for 

England to join the muster of Lord Kitchenerôs 

New Army at Basingstoke.  

The Pals went into action in August at Gallipoli on 

the Aegean coast of Turkey and not in France as 

they had expected. In burning heat and with 

inadequate water they were quickly in the midst of 

a number of fierce battles with a strong enemy 

who controlled the high ground they sought to 

conquer. Within a few weeks, only seventy- nine 

of the original Pals were left. The rest wee either 

killed, wounded or down wit dysentery. Somehow 

Billy had managed to survive and was promoted to 

Lance Corporal after the savage fighting on the 

slopes of Kizla Dagh where the Dubôs excelled but 

suffered greatly.  

He moved off the peninsula in October 1915 with 

the 10th (Irish) Division he went to Salonika in 

Northern Greece to join the French forces fighting 

the Bulgarians in Serbia. A grim cold winter was 

soon upon them as they fought in their tropical 

uniforms in polar conditions until forced to retreat 

with heavy losses from Lake Doiran back to 

Salonika.  

At the front, where exactly is not stated, more than 

likely France, rugby continued. A press cutting 

from the early months of 1916 titled,  óRugby 

Football in the War Zoneô found him playing as a 

forward for the RDF against the Munster Fusiliers. 

Jasper Brett who was capped for Ireland played 

too.  

 

2nd Lieut. William J Nagle. óDô Co. 7th Royal Dublin 

Fusiliers and 7th Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers. 

Just for the record, the Dublins beat the Munsters 

twelve points to nil. Sometime in 1916, he was 

transferred to the equally famous 16th  (Irish) 

Division in France and was attached to the 7th 

Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers. He was 

commissioned 2nd Lieutenant in December 1916. 

He fought with the Inniskillings at the Battle of 

Wijtschate in June 1917 and at the Third Battle of 

Ieper later in 1917.  

Somehow Billy survived to the very end of the 

War although he was wounded, possibly at 

Passchendaele. He remained in France after the 

armistice working at the large transport depot in 

Ardrique and it was there that in September 1922 

he married Kathleen Lewis. In 1924, they settled 

in Limerick and in 1928, Passage West Co. Cork 

where he worked for the oil company, Castrol-

Wakefield. He brought home from the war two 

hammered trench-art brass shell cases embossed 
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with Ypres 1914-18 that are still polished and 

cared for by me.  Billy and Kathleen had seven 

children but their family life was cut short when 

Billy died of pneumonia at the young age of forty-

two in February 1933. They had been married 

only eleven years. Was he yet another tragic 

belated victim of the Great War. 

 

My grandfather is buried just inside the gates in 

the old cemetery at Passage West in the gentle 

hills above the village. His tombstone records; 

William Joseph Nagle, Bellvue Park Passage 

West, formerly of Dublin. No mention of 

soldiering or great deeds or even the game of 

rugby football, which took him along with the Pals 

into the War to end all Wars and eventually back 

home to a new Ireland that few of his comrades 

lived to see.  

 

Note: Billyôs grandson, Bob Nagle, presented the 

story of his grandfather to the members of the 

Royal Dublin Fusiliers Associationôs event titled; 

óWhat did you do during the War Grandadô at the 

Dublin City Library and Archive, Pearse Street , 

Dublin, on 15 October 2005. 
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Rugby Football Team of óDô Company 7th Royal Dublin Fusiliers and paper cutting, unknown source, on the 

rugby match between the Dubs and Munsters in a ówar zone.ô Note L.-Cpl. W. Nagle. 

 

 

 

 

 

 


